2003

Kenneth D. Sursa v. Karen J. Sursa : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction is conferred on The Utah Court Of Appeals by §78-2a-3(2)(h) Utah Code (2003).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW, PRESERVATION OF ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

Issue. The trial court erred in granting a dismissal of Appellant's Petition to Modify Decree of Divorce where appellant requested that alimony be terminated for co-habitation when his former spouse and boyfriend spent the majority of their time together, former spouse had her vehicle at the home of her boyfriend twenty out of every thirty days for at least a year, boyfriend had use of her vehicle, she paid some of boyfriend's utilities and satellite bill so she could watch satellite at his residence, she and boyfriend ate many if not most of their meals together, boyfriend cared for her at his house while she was sick, boyfriend had access to her house when she was not present, her adult children believed she lived with boyfriend and were told she would be at boyfriend's house whenever they could not get a hold of her, and she and boyfriend had a sexual relationship.

Standard of Review. "Whether dismissal was appropriate for failure to make a prima facie case is a question of law reviewed for correctness." *Grossen v. DeWitt*, 982 P.2d 581, 584 (Utah App. 1999). The court "may weigh the evidence, consider credibility, and dismiss if it finds that although plaintiff's evidence establishes a prima facie case in

the technical sense, it is unpersuasive.” *Id.* ¹; Utah Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 52 (2003).

Whether a former spouse is “residing” or cohabitating with another person for purposes of terminating alimony “is a mixed question of fact and law”. *Haddow v. Haddow*, 707 P.2d 669, 671 (Utah 1985). “While we defer to the trial court’s factual findings unless they are shown to be clearly erroneous, we review its ultimate conclusion for correctness.” *Pendleton v. Pendleton*, 918 P.2d 159, 160 (Utah App. 1996). In “reviewing a trial court’s actions in a divorce case, [the appellate court is] vested with broad equitable powers.” *Haddow v. Haddow*, 707 P.2d 669, 671 (Utah 1985).

PRESERVATION. APPELLANT FILED AN OBJECTION TO FINDINGS & ORDER (R.444) AND A SUBSEQUENT OBJECTION TO FINDINGS AND OBJECTION TO NOTICE TO SUBMIT. (R.453). APPELLANT FILED A TRIAL BRIEF AND UPDATED TRIAL BRIEF, PRIOR TO TRIAL, OUTLINING THE LAW ON THE ISSUES IN DISPUTE. (R.246, 393). APPELLEE ALSO FILED A TRIAL MEMORANDUM PRIOR TO TRIAL. (R. 358).

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES ORDINANCES AND RULES

Utah Code (2003) Section 30-3-5(9). “Any order of the court that a party pay alimony to a former spouse terminates upon establishment by the party paying alimony that the former spouse is cohabitating with another person.”

Utah Code (1994) Section 30-3-5(6).

¹ While Appellee’s “Order of Dismissal” refers to the granting of a “directed verdict”, the correct appellation is granting a “motion to dismiss”. *Grossen v. DeWitt*, 982 P.2d 581, 584 (Utah App. 1999)(“In the context of a bench trial, however, where there is no jury verdict, the directed verdict’s procedural counterpart is a motion to dismiss.”)

Utah Code (2003) Section 30-3-3(1).

Utah Code (2003) Section 30-1-4.5(e)

Utah Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 41 Dismissal of actions. (b) *Involuntary dismissal; effect thereof.*

Utah Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 52. Findings by the court. (a) *Effect.*

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The parties to this dispute were divorced by stipulation on July 25, 2001 after a long-term marriage. On June 10, 2002 Appellant filed a Verified Petition to Modify Divorce, alleging a reduction of income and cohabitation of Appellee. Appellant subsequently moved to dismiss his claim related to the reduction of income, as it was no longer necessary, on July 14, 2003 and the court so ordered July 29, 2003. After several continuances trial was finally held on September 22, 2003. Appellant presented his case and rested. Appellee moved for dismissal, which was granted at trial by the court, pursuant to Rule 41(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, with instructions to file an Affidavit of Attorneys Fees. The Order of Dismissal was submitted to opposing counsel on September 30, 2003 and signed by the court October 10, 2003. A Judgment for Attorneys Fees against Appellant was entered October 16, 2003.

Appellant filed an Objection to Findings & Order on October 14, 2003 and subsequent Objection to Findings & Objection to Notice to Submit on October 17, 2003. Appellee filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Objection to Findings on October 28, 2003. The Objection was not submitted or ruled upon by the court. Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal on November 7, 2003.

This case was randomly assigned to mediation, which was unsuccessful.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The parties were married in Kansas on March 23, 1971, and later divorced June 25, 2001. R.6, 72. They had two children who were married adults at the time of the divorce. R.70. The divorce decree awarded substantial assets, real property and cash, to Appellee (hereinafter “Karen”) and \$3,100 per month in alimony. R.69-71. “A couple weeks after [the] divorce was final” Karen met Dane Gerkin (herinafter “Gerkin”), a tattoo artist, at Maddie’s Salon in Roosevelt and she began dating him. R.525:112:22-25; 525:114:7-12. Karen began spending the nights at Gerkin’s house in August or September 2001. R. 525:115:17-116:8. They continued their relationship for about two and a half years until at least April 2003, though Karen claimed it was no longer a sexual relationship at the time of trial. R. 525:116:17-117:1; 525:147:6-7.

In the divorce decree, Karen was awarded the marital home in Cedar View. R.75. Dane Gerkin resided in a pink house on the corner right across the street from the courthouse. R. 58. Karen’s daughter, Sammy Fillingim, believed her mother lived with Dane Gerkin. R. 525:21:15. Karen had told Sammy that if Sammy could not get a hold of Karen, she could always find her at Gerkin’s. R.525:22:6. Karen and Gerkin were seen together consistently for over a year and a half and ate together most of the time, either at Gerkin’s house or out. R.525:76:15-24; 525:28:21-29:23; 525:121:1-3; 525:120:18-22; 525:59:3-7; 525:60:3-7; 525:60:15-22; 525:61:15-18; 525:62:8; 525:62:23-24; 525:63:10-18; 525:66:4-6; 525:92:20-24; 525:93:1; 525:94:11-25; 525:101:5-102:7. During dozens of telephone calls between Karen and her daughter

Sammy, Karen stated she was at Gerkin's home. Sammy could usually reach Karen on her cell phone, not on the house phone at the home in Cedar View. R. 525:24:10-12,17-19; 525:25:4-17.

Karen's truck was seen at Gerkin's home about 50 times from April to August 2002 by one witness and about 20 out of 30 days each month for over a year from May 2002 to May 2003. R.525:50:22-51:5; 525:93:23 – 94:8. A private investigator conducting surveillance never saw the truck at Karen's home in Cedar View. R.525:71:15-21; 525:73:12.

Karen paid Gerkin's electric bill and satellite bill because she was bored with TV R. 525:35:14-20. Karen purchased groceries for Gerkin to cook for both of them at his home. R. 525:34:13-19. Gerkin could drive Karen's truck whenever he wanted, and often did so without Karen in it. R. 525:91:5-17; 525:92:2-3; 525:144:24-143:1.

Gerkin regularly took care of Karen, sometimes when Karen was ill. R.525:144:7-11; 525:143:14-18. Karen preferred to go home with Dane Gerkin. R.525:31:4-10; 525:31:23-32:23. Karen was arrested for DUI in January 2002. R. 525:50:22-51:5. After Karen lost her driver's license, Gerkin also ran her errands and took her to the doctor. R.525:144:16-23.

Gerkin was seen at the Cedar View home when Karen was out of town in Texas, though Karen denies Gerkin has a key to that home. R. 525:103:17-104:17; 525:151:4-11. Karen was seen alone at Gerkin's home on the porch, but it is unknown if Gerkin was inside at the time. R.525:95:5-7.

Karen and Gerkin had an ongoing sexual relationship for several months, if not years. Karen had bragged to Sammy about how good Dane was in bed and Sammy observed hickies on her mother. R. 525:28:9-15.

Because of these observations by friends and family of the parties, Appellant (hereinafter referred to as “Heavy”) believed that Karen was cohabitating with Dane Gerkin. At the same time Heavy had some substantial business reversals and his financial resources had decreased from the time of the divorce. Subsequently, in June 2002 he filed a Verified Petition to Modify Divorce, eleven months after the divorce. Trial was held September 22, 2003.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court used the wrong standard in determining if the facts presented comprised cohabitation for purposes of terminating alimony. Cohabitation is a mixed question of law and fact, which requires evidence of common residency and sexual contact. *Sigg v. Sigg*, 905 P.2d 908, 917 (UtahApp. 1995). The case law provides that once evidence of a common residence is proven between a former spouse and another person, it is the former spouse’s burden to show that her relationship with another person is without sexual contact. *Wacker v. Wacker*, 668 P.2d 553 (Utah 1983).

The evidence presented at trial showed that Appellee and Gerkin had a long-term relationship from July 2001 to at least April of 2003. They spent most of their nights together at Gerkin’s home, as evidenced by the frequency of Appellee’s truck located outside of his home and the content of telephone calls between Appellee and her daughter. Gerkin had free access to Karen’s truck and was seen driving it with and

without Karen beside him. Karen paid expenses for Gerkin, including his electric and satellite bill and groceries. Gerkin cared for Karen and made sure she was all right, especially after Karen became ill. Gerkin was seen at Karen's home when she was out of town. Karen acknowledged there was a sexual relationship from the beginning, but claimed that it no longer existed at the time of trial.

The trial court erred in stating that cohabitation meant to "hold yourself out to the world as married." R.525:159:22-24. It concluded that, even though it called Gerkin a "gigolo", because Appellee would not want to "spend the rest of her life with somebody like" Gerkin, who was a tattoo artist with long hair, she had not cohabitated with Gerkin. R.525:159:17-160:1. The court did not "care what the cases say" about this issue, and did not care "who has the burden", but ruled based upon its subjective assumptions about the appropriateness of Appellee's evident intent. R.525:14:2-3; 525:160:8-9.

The trial court confused the elements of common law marriage and cohabitation. While there may be some overlap, cohabitation has specific factors to prove and a burden-shifting requirement not found necessary in common law marriage cases. The facts presented show that Karen and Gerkin shared a common residence and that they had a sexual relationship. Therefore, alimony should have been terminated.

ARGUMENT

Appellant seeks to have this court overturn the trial court's dismissal of his Verified Petition to Modify Decree of Divorce due to the cohabitation of Appellee with another person. Alimony terminates when the payee cohabitates with another person. §30-3-5(9) Utah Code (2003). Cohabitation "means the former spouse is residing with a

person of the opposite sex and engaging in sexual contact with that person.” *Sigg v. Sigg*, 905 P.2d 908, 917 (Utah App. 1995).²

I. THE EVIDENCE IS INSUFFICIENT FOR A MOTION TO DISMISS

When challenging a trial court’s ruling concerning a motion to dismiss or directed verdict, Appellant is first obligated to “marshal the evidence in support of the verdict and then demonstrate that the evidence is insufficient when viewed in the light most favorable to the verdict.” *Neely v. Bennett*, 448 UAR 14, 15 (Utah App. 2002).

A. Marshalling the Evidence.

The findings made by the court in this case are limited since Appellee presented no evidence during trial except upon cross-examination of Appellant’s witnesses. The Order of Dismissal provides only the following finding, as prepared by Appellee’s counsel:

The evidence, when viewed in a light most favorable to the Petitioner, shows that the Respondent and Mr. Gerken had a friendship and a dating relationship. There was no evidence to show an intent or desire by the Respondent to move in or live with Mr. Gerken. The evidence did not establish that the Respondent was cohabitating with Mr. Gerken. The facts did not meet either the residency or the sexual relationship requirements, required by the case law to establish cohabitation. R.442.

In the transcript of the trial proceedings, the court actually made a number of other observations, to wit: The court found that Karen had no intent to move in or cohabit with Gerkin “until she became dependent on him for health and other reasons.” R. 525:159:12-16. It noted that Gerkin “was more like a gigolo” and that because Gerkin

² The case of *Garcia v. Garcia* clarified that the new statute enacted in 1995 indicated that the sexual contact may be with another “person” of either sex. 460 UAR 27 (Utah App. 2002).

was “a guy that works in a beauty shop, doing tattoos with long hair, [Appellee] doesn’t want to spend the rest of her life with somebody like that.” R.525:159:17-19. The court concluded that cohabitation meant to “hold your self out to the world as being married” and surmised that, evidently because it assumed Appellee would not want to be married to someone like Gerkin, there was no cohabitation. R.525:159:24.

In marshalling the evidence in support of the verdict, the following facts were presented to the court:

1. **Karen Sursa and Dane Gerkin had a friendship and dating relationship, but evidenced no intent or desire to live together.** Not every telephone call between Karen and her daughter, Sammy, was when Karen was at Dane’s home. R.525:37:18:21. On one occasion Sammy took Gerkin to the Cedar View home for Gerkin to pick up Karen’s truck in order for him to pick up Karen from the airport. R. 525:42:7-10. Sometimes when Chad Richard, the investigator, saw Karen’s truck in front of Gerkin’s home, it was during the day. R.525:64:19-22. Mr. Richard acknowledged that Karen’s truck could have been in the garage at Cedar View, which might explain why he never saw it there. R.525:65:8-13. Mr. Richard also acknowledged he did not always have his notebook with him and therefore, the second time he saw Karen outside of Gerkin’s home, it was not recorded. Mr. Richard admitted he saw Karen with others besides Gerkin, including her daughters, her friends the Russells, and other women at a bar. R.525:64:19-22; R.525:65:3. Patsy Sursa, Appellant’s wife, admitted that sometimes she saw Karen’s mother driving

Karen's truck, but that was only during the last couple of months, prior to trial.

R.525:98:5-7. Karen Sursa testified that she and Gerkin never went to the local ballpark. R.525:121:11-14. She claimed she had no key to Gerkin's home, he did not have one for her home, and she had never been to Gerkin's home when he was not there. R.525:151:4-11. The \$100 payment she paid to the electric company for Gerkin's electric bill was actually payment for a picture he drew for her. R.525:133:20-23. The other checks she wrote and gave to him were for him to run errands for her, for groceries, the pharmacy, and gas, after she lost her license. R.525:133:12-17. She never gave Gerkin money, but bought things from him, usually drawings. R.525:122:8-15.

2. **Karen Sursa and Dane Gerkin did not have a permanent sexual relationship like husband and wife.** Karen testified she and Gerkin had a sexual relationship the first few months of their relationship but that now their relationship was platonic, though they would occasionally cuddle. R.525:166:1-8; 525:145:1-13, 20-146:7.

B. The Legal Standard

Though these facts provide some evidence for Karen's claim that she did not cohabitate with Gerkin, they do not offset the overwhelming evidence presented by Appellant. Whether someone is residing with another "is a mixed question of fact and law" and therefore very fact specific. *Pendleton v. Pendleton*, 918 P.2d 159, 160 (Utah App. 1996). Factors the court has looked at in the past include sharing living expenses, open access to each other's residence, eating together, sharing food expenses, keeping

clothing or toiletries in the other residence, using the same furniture, possession of a key to the other's residence, the presence of vehicles, and time spent at each other's residence. *See, Pendleton v. Pendleton*, 918 P.2d 159 (Utah App. 1996); *Sigg v. Sigg*, 905 P.2d 908 (Utah App. 1995); *Haddow v. Haddow*, 707 P.2d 669 (Utah 1985).

In *Haddow*, the court relied upon the boyfriend's lack of open access to appellant's home to deny cohabitation. *Haddow v. Haddow*, 707 P.2d at 673. There was no furniture moved into appellant's home and no items of personal property except toiletries and a few clothes. *Id.* The boyfriend left a van at the home, but only for storage purposes. The boyfriend had dinner with appellant five or six times a week and stayed until 10:30 or midnight, often returning in the morning for coffee, and spent the night about once a week. *Id.* at 670-671. The boyfriend kept a few clothes in appellant's home so he could shower there between work and going out for the evening with appellant and appellant sometimes laundered them. He used appellant's address but also used his parents' and his ex-wife's. The only financial contributions made were to reimburse appellant for food he ate. *Id.*

In *Sigg v. Sigg*, the parties acknowledged cohabitation had occurred but disputed at what point in time it commenced. 905 P.2d 908, 917 (Utah App. 1995). The court ruled that cohabitation began even when the parties had separate residences. It found they shared living expenses, had open access to each other's residences, ate together and shared food expenses, kept clothing in the same residence, used the same furniture and "otherwise lived as though they were husband and wife". *Id.* at 918.

The court found cohabitation in *Pendleton* because the boyfriend, who traveled extensively, spent ninety percent of his time, or four to five nights a week, with appellee when he was in town. *Pendleton v. Pendleton*, 918 P.2d 159, 160 (Utah App. 1996). He had a key and came and went three to four times daily, even when appellee was not there. *Id.* They ate almost all meals together either at appellee's home or dining out. *Id.* While the boyfriend kept some clothing at appellee's home, he also kept belongings in his car, in his apartment and at the home of his estranged wife. *Id.* There was no sharing of living expenses and the court was unmoved by the fact that none of the boyfriend's clothes were at appellee's apartment at the time of trial. *Id.*

The standard for concluding that the facts comprise cohabitation for purposes of terminating alimony should be distinguished from those sustaining a common law marriage. There is no requirement in proving cohabitation that the relevant parties "hold themselves out as married." R.525:159:24. The only relevant inquiries are if "the former spouse is residing with a person . . . and engaging in sexual contact with the person." *Sigg v. Sigg*, 905 P.2d 908, 917 (Utah App. 1995).

The court should clarify that the factors it looks at to determine if cohabitation exists are an objective, not subjective standard. While the trial court in this case found that (1) Dane Gerkin was like a "gigolo" and, (2) in its mind, a long-haired tattoo artist was not someone that Karen Sursa should "want to spend the rest of her life with", this is not necessarily a basis to deny that cohabitation existed. R.525:159:17-20; 525:160:1.

C. Insufficiency of the Evidence.

Contrary to the conclusion of the court, based upon its limited findings, the evidence presented showed that Karen and Gerkin were cohabitating “for purposes of an alimony analysis.” *Pendleton v. Pendleton*, 918 P.2d at 161. “While [the appellate courts] defer to the trial court’s factual findings unless they are shown to be clearly erroneous, [the appellate courts] review its ultimate conclusion for correctness.” *Id.* “Whether dismissal was appropriate for failure to make a prima facie case is a question of law reviewed for correctness.” *Grossen v. DeWitt*, 982 P.2d 581, 584 (Utah App. 1999). The conclusion of the trial court should have been that Karen had cohabitated with Dane Gerkin, thus terminating alimony. Many of the relevant facts were omitted from the findings of the court, as provided below.

1. Karen Sursa and Dane Gerkin had a dating relationship with no intent to live together. Contrary to this finding the evidence showed that Karen and Dane had a long term relationship in which they spent nearly all their available time together, publicly and privately, shared assets and expenses, and cared for each other, “akin to husband and wife”.

a. Long-term relationship. Karen started dating Gerkin a couple weeks after the divorce was final in July 2001. R.525:112:22-25; 525:114:7-12. Karen began spending the nights at Dane’s house in August or September 2001. R. 525:115:17-116:8. They continued their relationship for about two and a half years until at least April 2003, though Karen claimed it was no longer a sexual relationship at the time of trial. R. 525:116:17-117:1; 525:147:6-7.

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