2003

Kenneth D. Sursa v. Karen J. Sursa : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The trial court, based on the evidence adduced at trial, dismissed this case on the merits. Thus, the clearly erroneous standard applies to the findings made by the trial court, including the court's finding that there was no

cohabitation.

2. A party challenging findings undertakes the weighty responsibility of marshaling the evidence supporting the findings, and then illuminating an incurable defect derived from the evidence. In this matter, Mr. Sursa did compile some of the evidence supporting the trial court's findings, but ignored other evidence, and, he did not present evidence that unalterably undermined the findings. Thus, the Court should sustain the trial court's findings.

3. Mr. Sursa did not establish cohabitation, which is his burden under the statute. Mr. Sursa presented evidence that Ms. Sursa spent time with Mr. Gerkin, but did not establish residency nor show an ongoing sexual relationship. The evidence at most showed a dating relationship. The statute is clear that a party seeking to terminate alimony bears the burden of proving cohabitation. As that party, Mr. Sursa must establish both elements of cohabitation.

4. Ms. Sursa is entitled to be awarded the fees and costs she incurs on appeal.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

**MR. SURSA USES THE WRONG STANDARD OF REVIEW BY
MISTAKENLY COUCHING THIS CASE AS ONE DISMISSED ON**

**PRIMA FACIE GROUNDS RATHER THAN AS ONE DISMISSED ON
THE MERITS.**

Rule 41(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure involves two types of dismissal, each with its own standard of review. Sorenson, 873 P.2d at 1144. The trial court may afford dismissal either "when the plaintiff has failed to adduce sufficient evidence to establish a prima facie case or when the trial court is not persuaded by the evidence introduced." Id. (emphasis added). In cases of the first kind, this Court "review[s] for correctness." Id. In contrast, "[i]f the court renders judgment on the merits against the plaintiff, the court . . . make[s] findings as provided in Rule 52(a)," Utah R. Civ. P. 41(b), and this Court "appl[ies] the clearly erroneous standard to the findings supporting a dismissal that was granted because the trial court was not persuaded by the evidence." Sorenson, 873 P.2d at 1144.

In this case, the trial court received Mr. Sursa's evidence, but was not convinced by it. Indeed, the court stated its findings, that "this case cr[ie]d out for a finding of failure to show cohabitation," R. 525:161:2-3, and entered findings to that effect. R. 441 § 3. Consequently, this Court "view[s] the evidence in the light most favorable to the trial

court's determination." Gillmor v. Cummings, 904 P.2d 703, 706 (Utah Ct. App. 1990).

Mr. Sursa's assertion that he "made a prima facie case of cohabitation and therefore, granting the Motion to Dismiss was error," is without merit and misses the standard of review. Appellant's Br. at 21. "[T]he trial court may grant a Rule 41(b) motion even if the plaintiff has made out a prima facie case." Sorenson, 873 P.2d at 1144. Once it does, and "make[s] findings," Utah R. Civ. P. 41(b), those "[f]indings . . . shall not be set aside unless clearly erroneous." Utah R. Civ. P. 52(a).

Among the findings Mr. Sursa must demonstrate to be clearly erroneous are the findings related to the lack of cohabitation in this case. In Barber, this Court confirmed a trial court decision that terminated alimony due to the lower court's "finding that [she] was cohabiting." 792 P.2d at 134. This Court said:

Anita's attack on the termination of alimony is simply an attack on the finding of cohabitation. However, in that attack, she wholly fails to take into account our standard of review. We do not reverse a trial court's finding of fact unless the appellant . . . shows the finding to be clearly erroneous.

Id. See also Sigg v. Sigg, 905 P.2d 908, 918 (Utah Ct. App. 1995).

POINT II

MR. SURSA FAILS TO MARSHAL THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTING THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS.

Rule 24(a)(9) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure requires that "[a] party challenging a fact finding must first marshal all record evidence that supports the challenged finding." The party must "then demonstrate that the evidence is legally insufficient to support the finding even in viewing it in the light most favorable to the court below." Alta Indus. Ltd. v. Hurst, 846 P.2d 1282, 1286 (Utah 1993) (quoting Reid v. Mutual of Omaha Ins., 776 P.2d 896, 899 (Utah 1989)). If "the duty to marshal is not properly discharged, [the Court] refuse[s] to consider the merits of challenges to the findings and accept[s] the findings as valid." Oneida/SLIC v. Oneida Cold Storage, 872 P.2d 1051, 1053 (Utah Ct. App. 1994) (quoting Mountain States Broadcasting Co. V. Neale, 783 P.2d 551, 553 (Utah Ct. App. 1989)). Meeting the marshaling mandate requires more than including "some evidence that supports the . . . findings." West v. Keil, 48 P.3d 888, 893 (Utah 2002).

This Court expanded upon these basic precepts in West Valley City v. Majestic Investment Co. 818 P.2d 1311, 1315 (1991), explaining:

[t]he marshaling process is not unlike becoming the devil's advocate. Counsel must extricate himself or herself from the client's shoes and fully assume the adversary's position. In order to properly discharge the duty of marshaling the evidence, the challenger must present, in comprehensive and fastidious order, every scrap of competent evidence introduced at trial which supports the very findings the appellant resists. After constructing this magnificent array of supporting evidence, the challenger must ferret out a fatal flaw in the evidence. The gravity of this flaw must be sufficient to convince the appellate court that the court's finding resting upon the evidence is clearly erroneous.

Id.

Mr. Sursa falls short of meeting the marshaling threshold by overlooking evidence, including Ms. Sursa's statements, that are contrary to his position. The following is part of the evidence from the trial that supports the trial court's findings that were ignored by Mr. Sursa showing he did not marshal the evidence as required.

Mr. Sursa's relies on a claim by Sammi Fillingim that she believed her mother lived with Dane Gerkin. Appellant's Br. at 14. He fails to note that Ms. Fillingim had three versions to the claim that Ms. Sursa lived with Mr. Gerkin. The letter

she wrote, denoted Exhibit 1, her deposition testimony and her trial testimony. R. 525:39-48. Mr. Sursa neglects to mention other testimony offered by Ms. Fillingim that favored the trial court's findings. For example, Ms. Fillingim testified that she had been to the Cedar View home, following her parents' breakup, and seen furniture and toiletries in the house, R. 525:42:16-43:7, bolstering the proposition that Ms. Sursa was living in the home. Ms. Fillingim also testified that she transported Ms. Sursa from Mr. Gerkin's house, and that Ms. Sursa's truck remained behind, R. 525:44:20-45:3, demonstrating that the presence of the truck did not indicate the presence of Ms. Sursa at the residence. Perhaps most importantly, Ms. Fillingim testimony exposed her biases and inconsistencies. Mr. Sursa did not mention that, at the time of trial, Ms. Fillingim had no relationship with her mother, R. 525:35:21-24, that Ms. Fillingim conceded, at her deposition, that she harbored feelings of bitterness for Ms. Sursa, R. 525:39:13-17, that Ms. Fillingim admitted that one reason for her hostility was that she believed Mr. Sursa was treated unfairly when her parents divorced, R. 525:39:20-25, that Ms. Fillingim did not think her father should pay "as much" alimony, R. 525:40:1-3, and that Ms. Fillingim authored

a letter, prior to the trial, that conflicted with her statements before the court, R. 525:48:1-3, Exhibit 1.

Chad Richard, a longtime friend of Mr. Sursa, R. 525:57:7, also contributed information supportive of Ms. Sursa's position which was omitted from Mr. Sursa's brief. Mr. Richard testified that he noticed Ms. Sursa's mother driving Ms. Sursa's truck, R. 525:63:20-21, that he observed a man other than Mr. Gerkin at Ms. Sursa's house one evening, when he, Mr. Richard, visited her home following her divorce, R. 525:65:8-13, and that he drove by the Cedar View home "occasionally," and had seen Ms. Sursa's truck there. R. 525:66:12-15.

Chris Port, the investigator retained by Mr. Sursa, offered testimony, not included in the Mr. Sursa's brief, that buttresses the court's findings, as well. Mr. Sursa states that "a private investigator never saw anyone or Karen's truck at the house in Cedar View." Appellant's Br. at 14. He, however, ignores the admission by Mr. Port that the truck could have been in the garage without his knowing it, R. 525:83, and that there were numerous days when the vehicle was not at the Gerkin residence. R. 525:84. Mr. Sursa also excludes evidence, derived from Mr. Port's testimony, that,

during his two months of observations, he saw Mr. Gerkin and Ms. Sursa together at Mr. Gerkin's house only twice, R. 525:78:20-79:79:2, that, with the exception of these few times, all Mr. Port saw was the truck and that he did not know who was in the house, R. 525:83:2-6, that he did not know when the truck arrived at or departed from Mr. Gerkin's house, R. 525:84:21-23, that Mr. Port knocked at Mr. Gerkin's house while the truck was there and no one was home (again indicating the presence of the truck did not equate with the presence of people), R. 525:84:24-85:1, and that he did not observe the house for a number of the days during the two-month period. R. 525:83:25-85:9.

Patsy Sursa, Mr. Sursa's new wife, like Mr. Port, testified that she often saw the truck at Mr. Gerkin's house. Appellant's Br. at 15. However, Mr. Sursa does not mention that between May, 2002, and March, 2003, R. 525:93:24-94:2, though Pasty Sursa drove by multiple times per day, R. 525:94:3-4, she saw Ms. Sursa (Karen) at Mr. Gerkin's house only once. R. 525:97:8-11.

Mr. Sursa relies on his brother, Ronnie Sursa, to argue that Mr. Gerkin was at the Cedar View home when Ms. Sursa was away. Appellant's Br. at 16, 19. He fails to tell the Court

that this testimony was stricken by the court because it was not reliable. R. 525:105:8-9.

Portions of Ms. Sursa's own testimony were also overlooked by Mr. Sursa in his brief. In terms of the residency element of cohabitation, Mr. Sursa omits Ms. Sursa's direct response that she never lived at Mr. Gerkins' home. R. at 525:151:2-3. Mr. Sursa further makes inaccurate claims supporting his position or fails to couple claims with contradictory evidence. For instance, Mr. Sursa asserts that "[Ms. Sursa] purchased groceries because [Mr. Gerkin] cooked for her at his home," Appellant's Br. at 15, but ignores Ms. Sursa's testimony that it was Mr. Gerkin who paid for food she consumed when she ate at his house. R. 525:120:8-13. Mr. Sursa asserts that Mr. Gerkin took Ms. Sursa's vehicle "whenever he wanted." Appellants' Br. at 16. As support, he cites the "testimony" not of any of the witnesses, but a statement of Mr. Sursa's attorney at the trial court. Meanwhile, Mr. Sursa leaves out Ms. Sursa's direct testimony to the contrary. R. 525:152:6.

There are also omissions in Mr. Sursa's brief concerning Ms. Sursa's testimony about her relationship with Mr. Gerkin. Ms. Sursa outlined the time line for her sexual contact with

Mr. Gerkin. Ms. Sursa's testimony establishes that she had very limited sexual contact with Mr. Gerkin during August and September in 2001 and none thereafter, which testimony was never refuted. After those first two months, Ms. Sursa explained that she stayed some nights at Mr. Gerkin's house only because she was ill and the doctor had recommended that she not be alone, R. at 525:117:4-5, something she reaffirmed in later testimony. R. at 525:147:2-10.

Mr. Sursa overlooked, in his brief, testimony from every witness, which supports the trial court's decision. As a result, the Court should "refuse to consider the merits of challenges to the findings and accept the findings as valid." Oneida/SLIC, 872 P.2d at 1503 (quoting Mountain States Broadcasting Co., 783 P.2d at 553.

Even if Mr. Sursa had adequately assembled "every scrap of competent evidence," West Valley City, 818 P.2d at 1315, which he did not do, he needed to do more than highlight disputes. He had to reveal a "fatal flaw in the evidence." Id. Mr. Sursa did not show any flaw to the findings, let alone a fatal flaw. Thus, the findings should stand regardless of the success or failure of his marshaling attempt.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT ALIMONY PAYMENTS TO MS. SURSA SHOULD NOT TERMINATE, BECAUSE SHE DID NOT COHABIT.

Even if this court reviews the trial court's determination for correctness, Mr. Sursa has not established that Ms. Sursa cohabited with Mr. Gerkin. Utah Code Ann. § 30-3-5(10) dictates that "[a]ny order of the court that a party pay alimony to a former spouse terminates upon establishment by the party paying alimony that the former spouse is cohabitating with another person."¹ "Cohabitation is comprised of . . . two elements: (1) common residency and (2) sexual contact evidencing a conjugal association." Pendleton v. Pendleton, 918 P.2d 159, 161 n.1 (Utah Ct. App. 1996).

A. MS. SURSA DID NOT SHARE A COMMON RESIDENCE WITH MR. GERKIN.

"Cohabitation," the Utah Supreme Court explained, "is not a sojourn, nor a habit of visiting, nor even remaining with for a time; the term implies continuity." Haddow v. Haddow, 707 P.2d 669, 673 (Utah 1985) (quoting Burke v. Burke, 340 P.2d

¹Mr. Sursa argues that Ms. Sursa has the burden on the sexual contact element. He fails to inform the court that the cases that he relies on were based on a former version of the statute that provided for that split in the burden. The present statute now clearly puts that burden on Mr. Sursa.

948, 950 (Or. 1959)). Indeed, illustrating the threshold requirement of continuity, the court wrote that cohabiting is akin "to liv[ing] together as husband and wife." Id. at 671 (quoting Black's Law Dictionary 236 (5th ed. 1979)). The court additionally stated that "common residency means the sharing of a common abode that both parties consider their principal domicile for more than a temporary or brief period of time." Id. at 672.

In Pendleton, this Court, applying these principles, determined that a couple, Bill and Joyce, did cohabit. 918 P.2d at 161. The "largely undisputed facts" included "[Bill's] stay[ing] with Joyce ninety percent of the time when he was in town," "Bill['s] . . . [possessing] his own key to Joyce's home," Bill's having "free access to the home," Bill's "spen[ding] time there when Joyce was away," "Joyce['s] and Bill['s] [eating] almost all meals together when Bill was in town," and "Bill['s] ke[eping] clothing and other personal effects at Joyce's home." Id. In short, Bill lived at Joyce's home. "He came and went . . . three or four times daily, even when she was not there." Id. Those facts do not exist in this case, nor does anything remotely similar.

In Sigg, 905 P.2d at 918, this Court upheld a trial court finding of cohabitation when the parties had a sexual relationship, shared living expenses, had open access to each other's condominiums, ate together and shared food expenses, kept clothing in the same condominium, used the same furniture and 'otherwise lived as though they were husband and wife.'" Id.

In Pendleton and Sigg the court fairly found that the respective couples "lived as though they were husband and wife." Sigg, 905 P.2d at 918. The facts relating to Ms. Sursa and Mr. Gerkin, however, deviate dramatically from the facts supporting cohabitation in the cited cases. Ms. Sursa and Mr. Gerkin truly lived apart. There is no evidence that either kept furniture or clothing at the other's home other than the clothing Ms. Sursa had on the occasion she was recuperating from an illness at Mr. Gerkin's home. She was not even occupying one of his beds but was lying on the floor. Moreover, the presence of one personal item, the blanket, that Ms. Sursa had with her at Mr. Gerkin's home seems unremarkable in light of Ms. Sursa's sickness. R. 525:41:6-7.

Although Ms. Sursa occasionally ate at Mr. Gerkin's house, and she and Mr. Gerkin ate out one or two times during

a two week time period, for an unspecified tenure, this does not indicate that they "ate almost all meals together." Pendleton, 918 P.2d at 161.

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